FILED 10-24-2023 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN, COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

For Official Use:

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff/Respondent,

v.

ZACKERY J. OLSON,

Defendant/Appellant. Case No.: 2023AP000369

ON APPEAL FROM THE SENTENCE IMPOSED BY THE HONORABLE JENNIFER DOROW, PRESIDING Circuit Court Case No. 21CM1454.

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

Halling & Cayo, S.C. Thomas C. Simon Attorney for Defendant-Appellant State Bar No.: 1035239

320 E. Buffalo St., Ste. 700 Milwaukee, WI 53202 414-755-5021 414-271-3841 Facsimile tcs@hallingcayo.com

Case 2023AP000369 Brief of Appellant Filed 10-24-2023 Page 2 of 17

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRONEOUSLY EXERCISED ITS DISCRETION IN SENTENCING OLSON TO PRSION AND NOT PLACING HIM ON PROBATION.

Case 2023AP000369 Brief of Appellant Filed 10-24-2023 Page 6 of 17

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Olson was alleged to have sent text messages to Victim A on December 29, 2020 during the time period when an injunction was in placed prohibiting him from contacting her. R2 at 2. Victim A did not recognize the phone number the messages were sent from, but told officers that she thought Olson had sent the messages. Id. The content of the messages suggested that Victims A and B had contacted Olson and the sender was accusing them of contacting him and asking them to stop. Id. Victim B also claimed that she received a message from an unknown number on December 24, 2020 while she was at Victim A's residence. Id. Victim B further stated that she had received a second text message on December 31, 2020 that again asked that she stopped contacting the sender. Id. This text was also from an unknown number. Id.

During the course of the police investigation,

Detective Janke determined, through records obtained by subpoena, that the numbers the texts were sent from were sent through and app known as Burner. Id. Further investigation indicated that the person who the underlying number was registered to was Tracy Yochum, who is Olson's mother. Id.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 20, 2021, Olson was charged in a two count complaint alleging Violation of Injunction - Harassment, Repeater under Wis. Stats. \$813.125(4) and \$939.62(1)(a), the later as a result of three convictions on February 5, 2018 in Waukesha County Case Number 2017CM1820.

Along with the above, Olson was charged in Waukesha County Case Number 21CF1360 with one count of Felony Bail Jumping, Repeater under Wis. Stats. §946.49(1)(b) and §939.62(1)(a) due to the above, as well as, a pending felony matter in Fond du Lac County. A second count was also charged as Violation of Temporary Restraining Order - Harassment, Repeater under Wi. Stats. §813.125(3) and §939.62(1)(a).

On September 13, 2022, the court held a jury trial on the two cases charged above. As a result of the trial, Olson was found not guilty of the two counts in 21CF1360 and found guilty of the two counts in 21CM1454.

On November 9, 2022 Olson was sentenced by the court on each count, to be served consecutively, to 15 months - broken down to 12 months of initial confinement and 3 months of extended supervision.

Case 2023AP000369 Brief of Appellant Filed 10-24-2023 Page 8 of 17

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review for sentencing is well established in Wisconsin. Appellate review is "limited to determining if discretion was erroneously exercised." State v. Gallion, 2004 WI 42 ¶17, 270 Wis. 2d 535, 678 N.W.2d 197.

Case 2023AP000369 Brief of Appellant Filed 10-24-2023 Page 9 of 17

Argument

III. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRONEOUSLY EXERCISED ITS DISCRETION IN SENTENCING OLSON TO PRSION AND NOT PLACING HIM ON PROBATION.

To begin, Wisconsin courts must consider three primary factors in imposing sentences on defendants. The three primary factors are: (1) protection of the public; (2) the gravity of the offense; and (3) the defendant's character. State v. Williams, 2018 WI 59, ¶46, 381 Wis. 2d 661, 912 N.W.2d 373 (see also Gallion, 270 Wis. 2d 535, ¶40.

In addition to the above, the "court may also consider the following secondary factors: (1) past record of criminal offenses; (2) history of undesirable pattern of behavior; (3) the defendant's personality, character, and social traits; (4) results of a presentence investigation; (5) whether the crime was of a vicious or aggravated nature; (6) degree of defendant's culpability; (7) the defendant's demeanor at trial; (8) the defendant's age, educational background, and employment history; (9) whether the defendant shows remorse, repentance, or cooperativeness; (10) need for rehabilitative control; (11) rights of the public; and (12) length of pretrial detention." State v. Rios, 2022 WI App 13, ¶12, 401 Wis. 2d 195, 973 N.W.2d 17 (citing Harris v. State, 75 Wis. 2d 513, 519-20, 250N.W.2d 7 (1977)).

"The weight given to each factor is within the circuit court's discretion." *Id.* (citing *State v. Wickstrom*, 118 Wis. 2d 339, 355, 348 N.W.2d 183 (Ct. App. 1984)).

A circuit court must do more than simply utter facts, it must show that its discretion was exercised. *McCleary v. State*, 49 Wis. 2d 263, 280-81, 182 N.W.2d 512 (1971). "Discretion is not synonymous with decision-making, Rather, the term contemplates a process of reasoning." *Id.* at 277.

The appellate court must "closely scrutinize the record to ensure that 'discretion was in fact exercised and the basis of that exercise of discretion [is] set forth.'" *Gallion*, 270 Wis. 2d 535, ¶4 (quoting *McCleary*, 49 Wis. 2d at 277).

In Olson's case, the circuit court put great weight on what it deemed to be Olson's character at the time of sentencing. In essence, Olson was punished for exercising his right to trial and for maintaining his innocence.

Olson proceeded to a jury trial in his case, as was his absolute right to do. Throughout the case he maintained his innocence to the alleged crimes that he was accused of. In fact, as a result of trial, Olson was found not guilty of both counts set forth in Waukesha County Case Number 21CF1360. Specifically, he was found not guilty of felony bail jumping and of violating a temporary injunction.

At the time of his sentencing, after trial, Olson continued to maintain that he did not commit the crimes of which he was accused. The trial court, however, used that against him in sentencing him to a consecutive prison sentence.

How can a defendant maintain his right to innocence and exercise his right to trial and then be punished for exercising those rights? At sentencing the trial court specifically stated to Olson that his lack of remorse was paramount in its sentencing of him. R92 at 36. Would it not be disingenuous for Olson to maintain his innocence, put on his defense at trial, be found not quilty of two of the four counts charged against him and then suddenly at sentencing apologize for committing the crimes a jury convicted him of? This is not a case where Olson plead to an agreed upon resolution to minimize his exposure or take advantage of a plea deal. The court gave Olson the opportunity to speak at sentencing and he exercised that right. He offered to the court an explanation for his actions which were consistent with his right to trial that he was not guilty of the charges. The trial court then used this against him and sentenced him to consecutive prison terms on the two enhanced misdemeanors he was convicted of.

> In addition to the above, the trial court also used the alleged facts of a new case charged against him in Fond du Lac County in sentencing him to prison. To be clear, the Fond du Lac County case referenced at sentencing had been charged mere days before Olson's sentencing. Olson had not even been served with a summons and complaint in that matter and had no idea as to the crimes he was alleged to have committed. Victim B specifically referenced this new case in her statement to the trial court at sentencing. R92 at 7. This was the first time Olson heard what he supposedly did to be charged in a new case. Despite the trial court stating that it didn't need to consider the facts in the new case in reaching its conclusions for sentencing Olson, it is apparent from the trial court's comments that it did consider that new allegations contained therein. and the acknowledges that the trial court will allow victims to speak freely, the discussion of this case and the trial court's consideration of it should not have been used against Olson at sentencing.

> Olson also understand that the trial court had options in sentencing him. For example, the trial court could have sentenced him to concurrent prison time and extended supervision. Instead, because of the above the trial court sentenced him to consecutive prison terms. The trial court's

Case 2023AP000369 Brief of Appellant Filed 10-24-2023 Page 13 of 17

refusal to sentence Olson to probation instead of prison demonstrates the trial court's reliance on the above argument as it relates to the Fond du Lac case and what the trial court deemed as Olson's refusal to accept responsibility for his actions.

Case 2023AP000369 Brief of Appellant Filed 10-24-2023 Page 14 of 17

Conclusion

For the herein stated arguments, Olson respectfully requests that the Court find that the circuit court erred in erroneously exercised its discretion in sentencing him to consecutive orison terms.

Submitted this 23^{rd} day of October, 2023.

HALLING & CAYO, S.C.

Attorneys for Defendant-Appellant

Electronically signed by Thomas C. Simon

Thomas C. Simon State Bar No. 1035239

ADDRESS:

320 E. Buffalo St., Ste 700

Milwaukee, WI 53202 PH: (414) 755-5021 FAX: (414) 271-3841 Case 2023AP000369 Brief of Appellant Filed 10-24-2023 Page 15 of 17

CERTIFICATION

I hereby certify that this brief conforms to the rules contained in Wis. Stats. §809.19(8)(b)and (c) for a brief produced using the following font:

Monospaced font: Courier New - 12, 10 characters per inch; double-spaced; a 1.5 inch margin on the left side and 1 inch margins on all other sides.

The length of this brief is 15 pages.

Submitted this 23rd day of October, 2023.

HALLING & CAYO, S.C.

Attorneys for Defendant-Appellant

Electronically signed by Thomas C. Simon

Thomas C. Simon
State Bar No. 1035239

ADDRESS:

320 E. Buffalo St., Ste 700

Milwaukee, WI 53202 PH: (414) 755-5021 FAX: (414) 271-3841 Case 2023AP000369 Brief of Appellant Filed 10-24-2023 Page 16 of 17