FILED 01-16-2024 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

## STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v. Appeal No. 2023AP000369 – CR

ZACKERY J. OLSON,

Defendant-Appellant.

An Appeal From a Sentence Imposed by the Honorable Jennifer Dorow, Circuit Court Judge, Branch 2, Waukesha County

#### BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

Susan L. Opper District Attorney

Waukesha County

Melissa J. Zilavy
Assistant District Attorney
State Bar No. 1097603
Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Waukesha County District Attorney Office's 515 W. Moreland Boulevard, CG-72 Waukesha, WI 53188 (262)548-7076 Melissa.Zilavy@da.wi.gov

# **

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. Judge Dorow properly exercised her discretion by imposing consecutive prison sentences, and did not improperly rely on facts related to pending criminal matters or penalize Olson for maintaining his innocence.

#### a. Relevant Law

"Sentencing is a discretionary judicial act and appellate review is limited to determining whether there was an abuse of discretion." *State v. Borrell*, 167 Wis. 2d 749, 781, 482 N.W.2d 883 (1992) (citing *State v. Harris*, 119 Wis. 2d 612, 622, 350 N.W.2d 633 (1984)). Therefore, Wisconsin appellate courts enforce "'a strong public policy against interference with the sentencing discretion of the trial court." *State v. Echols*, 175 Wis. 2d 653, 681, 499 N.W.2d 631, *cert. denied*, 510 U.S. 889 (1993) (quoting *Harris*, 119 Wis. 2d at 622). This deference stems from the trial court's inherent advantage in considering the relevant sentencing factors and the demeanor of the defendant in each particular case. *See Echols*, 175 Wis. 2d at 682. Therefore, on appeal, a trial court's conclusion that a sentence was not unduly harsh is reviewed for an erroneous exercise of discretion. *See State v. Giebel*, 198 Wis. 2d 207, 220, 541 N.W.2d 815 (Ct. App. 1995).

Implicit in Olson's argument that he should have been sentenced to probation instead of prison is that the trial court's sentence was unduly harsh. A sentence is deemed to be unduly harsh or unconscionable if it is "'so excessive and unusual and so disproportionate to the offense committed as to shock public sentiment and violate the judgment of reasonable people concerning what is right and proper under the circumstances." *State v. Wagner*, 191 Wis. 2d 322, 333, 528 N.W.2d 85 (Ct. App. 1995) (quoting *Ocanas v. State*, 70 Wis. 2d 179, 185, 233 N.W.2d 457 (1975)). Furthermore, when a defendant claims that his sentence was unduly harsh, it is the defendant's burden to "show some unreasonable or unjustifiable basis for the sentence in the record." *State v. Cooper*, 117 Wis. 2d 30, 40, 344 N.W.2d 194 (Ct. App. 1983). If the record contains evidence that the trial court properly exercised its discretion, the appellate court must affirm. *Id.* at 40.

Case 2023AP000369 Brief of Respondent Filed 01-16-2024 Page 14 of 19

Circuit courts retain considerable discretion at sentencing. *State v. Gallion*, 2004 WI 42, ¶ 17, 270 Wis. 2d 535, 678 N.W.2d 197. If the circuit court demonstrated a process of reasoning and came to a reasonable conclusion based on legally relevant facts and factors, this Court will not interfere with the sentencing decision. *State v. Cummings*, 2014 WI 88, ¶ 75, 357 Wis. 2d 1, 850 N.W.2d 915 (citation omitted).

When fashioning a sentence, a sentencing court must consider the gravity of the offense, the need to protect the public, the defendant's rehabilitative needs, and any applicable aggravating or mitigating factors. Wis. Stat. § 973.017(2). The sentence should reflect the minimum amount of confinement necessary that is consistent with these factors. Gallion, 270 Wis. 2d 535, ¶ 44. The court may also consider the following: (1) the defendant's criminal history; (2) any history of undesirable behavior patterns; (3) the defendant's personality and character; (4) the presentence investigation results; (5) the vicious or aggravated nature of the crime; (6) the defendant's degree of culpability; (7) the defendant's demeanor at trial; (8) the defendant's age, education and employment history; (9) the defendant's remorse, repentance and cooperativeness; (10) the need for rehabilitative control; (11) the rights of the public; and (12) the length of pretrial detention. Harris v. State, 75 Wis. 2d 513, 519–20, 250 N.W.2d 7 (1977). The circuit court retains considerable discretion in determining which factors are relevant and most important to its sentencing decision. Gallion, 270 Wis. 2d 535, ¶ 68; State v. Grady, 2007 WI 81, ¶ 31, 302 Wis. 2d 80, 734 N.W.2d 364.

Furthermore, a court can consider unproven or pending charges at sentencing on a separate case as it can be used in assessing the character of the defendant, which is an essential aspect of any sentencing. *See State v. McQuay*, 154 Wis. 2d 116, 452 N.W.2d 377 (1990); *State v. Von Loh*, 157 Wis. 2d 91, 458 N.W.2d 556 (Ct. App. 1990). The Wisconsin Supreme Court stated in *McQuay*:

In determining the character of the defendant and the need for his incarceration and rehabilitation, the court must consider whether the crime is an isolated act or a pattern of conduct. Evidence of unproven offenses involving the defendant may be considered by the court for this purpose.

*McQuay*, 154 Wis. 2d 116 at 126. The Wisconsin Supreme Court emphasized this same principle in *Elias v. State*, 93. Wis. 2d 278, 284, 286 N.W.2d 559 (1980), when explaining why uncharged, unproven, or pending charges can be considered:

Case 2023AP000369 Brief of Respondent Filed 01-16-2024 Page 15 of 19

This court has stated that the trial court in imposing sentence for one crime can consider other unproven offenses, since those other offenses are evidence of a pattern of behavior which is an index of the defendant's charter, a critical factor in sentencing.

Wisconsin Statutes Section 972.14(2) gives the defendant the right of allocution before being sentenced. But, even after a finding of guilt by a jury, a court cannot use a defendant's refusal to admit guilt as a factor to impose a harsher sentence. *Scales v. State*, 64 Wis. 2d 485, 495, 219 N.W.2d 286 (1974). A defendant's "post-trial confession of guilt and an expression of remorse may be considered in mitigation of a sentence." *Id.* at 496. But, if instead of admitting guilt, a defendant exercises his Fifth Amendment right against self-incrimination, a court cannot penalize him based on that fact alone. *Id.* at 496-97. The Wisconsin Supreme Court found in *Scales v. State* that "[a] trial judge may, but he need not, take into consideration such expressions as indicative of the likelihood that the rehabilitory process hoped for in the criminal law has commenced; but where [. . .] the defendant refuses to admit his guilt, that fact alone cannot be used to justify incarceration rather than probation." *Id.* 

But, the Court explained in *Williams v. State*, 79 Wis. 2d 235, 239, 255 N.W.2d 504 (1977), that *Scales* does not stand for the proposition that it is "improper or an abuse of discretion to consider on sentencing a defendant's remorse, repentance and cooperativeness." In *Williams*, the Court clarified that a court cannot give "undue and [. . .] overwhelming weight to the defendant's refusal to admit guilt" to the point that the record indicates the refusal materially influenced the trial court's discretion. *Id.* at 239-40.

### b. Applying Relevant Law to Olson's Case

There is a strong public policy against overturning Judge Dorow's sentencing decision, and this Court must only review the sentence to determine if she abused her discretion. In this case, Judge Dorow explained the reason for imposing the sentence she did was based on the facts and circumstances of Olson's continued harassment against Victim A and Victim B for several years. The sentence was not unduly harsh as it was reasonably related to the main sentencing goals of protection of the community, which included the victims' protection, defendant's rehabilitation, and the gravity of the offense.

Case 2023AP000369 Brief of Respondent Filed 01-16-2024 Page 16 of 19

The sentence for 12 months initial confinement and three years extended supervision on each count consecutive to each other was not so excessive and unusual in relation to Olson's criminal conduct that it shocks the public sentiment and violates the judgment of reasonable people. Olson needs to show this Court that there was "some unreasonable or unjustifiable basis for the sentence in the record." Cooper, 117 Wis. 2d at 40. Olson first claims this is the case as Judge Dorow considered other unproven facts and pending charges in Fond du Lac County as a basis for the sentence. Olson fails to support his argument with any established case law that it was improper for Judge Dorow to consider other conduct by Olson in relation to Victim A and Victim B. Based on long-established case law from McQuay, Von Loh, and Elias, amongst many cases, a court can consider unproven or pending charges at sentencing in order to assess the character of the defendant. It was also clear that Judge Dorow specifically acknowledged that she was only sentencing Olson for the charges before her, but could consider Olson's seven-year pattern of harassing behavior against Victim A and Victim B when assessing his character, which included facts surrounding the Fond du Lac County cases. (R.92, Sentencing Hearing Transcript, p. 33.) She did not emphasize the actual charges in Fond du Lac County, but did find the facts of those allegations to be relevant and it showed that Olson had a pattern of obsession with Victim B and complete disregard of court orders. (*Id.* at 33-34.) Consideration of the facts in this way is exactly what the case law has found to be permissible during sentencing.

Second, the defense claims that the sentence was unduly harsh because Judge Dorow used Olson's lack of remorse and lack of acceptance of responsibility for the crimes as justification for imposing the sentence. When assessing the record in this respect, this Court must look to whether there was "undue and [...] overwhelming weight" given to Olson's refusal to admit guilt "to the point that the record indicates the refusal materially influenced the trial court's discretion." *Williams*, 79 Wis. 2d at 239-40. This is not the case. It is important to recognize that Olson did not state in his allocution that he did not commit these violations of injunctions; Olson just tried to justify his behavior by blaming Victims A and B. (R.92, Sentencing Hearing Transcript, p. 28-31.) Judge Dorow emphasized that had Olson felt he was being wronged by Victims A and B as he alleged, he could have used proper legal means in order to protect his own rights, yet did not do so, and instead continued to violate long-established court orders. (*Id.* at 36.)

Case 2023AP000369 Brief of Respondent Filed 01-16-2024 Page 17 of 19

It was also clear from the rest of the record that his refusal to take responsibility was not central to the prison sentence in this case. Judge Dorow emphasized various aggravating factors that formed the basis for the sentence including: prior record consisting of similar conduct, history of continued violations of court orders, concealing his phone number when contacting Victims A and B, and the impact of Olson's behavior on Victims A and B. (*Id.* at 34-36.) Judge Dorow emphasized repeatedly the seven-year history of Olson violating court orders prohibiting him from contacting Victim A and Victim B was one of the main reasons for giving such a sentence in order to send a message to him to stop his behavior. (*Id.* at 32, 33-34, 35, 36, 37, 38.)

In addition, Judge Dorow acknowledged Olson's prior record for the same convictions with the same victim made this case aggravated. (*Id.* at 35.) The sentence given in those cases included two years probation and nine months jail, and yet that was not enough of a message to deter Olson's behavior. (*Id.*) Judge Dorow believed that prison was necessary and probation would unduly depreciate the seriousness of the offense as it would otherwise it would send the message to Olson that "continued violations off this restraining order are tolerated." (*Id.* at 36-37.)

Judge Dorow also discussed how Olson's behavior affected Victim A's and Victim B's mental health and their family, and how much fear they have of Olson by his continued and repeated behavior over the years. (*Id.* at 34.)

In sum, the record clearly demonstrates to this Court that Judge Dorow properly exercised her discretion by considering relevant factors when imposing consecutive prison sentences in this case, and thus this Court must affirm the sentence.

## **CONCLUSION**

For all the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully requests that this Court find that Judge Dorow appropriately exercised her discretion by considering relevant factors when imposing consecutive prison sentences on each count in this case.